
 
 
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

February 9, 2023 

 
Table of Contents 

Agenda Page 2  
 
November 10, 2022, Meeting Minutes Page 5 
 
Financial Report 
 Page 11 

 Report 
 Page 15   
Item VII.a.: Approval and Adoption of Nelrod Homes, 
LLC lot buy back request for lots purchased in the 
Settegast neighborhood during the Houston Land 
Bank Lot Sale Round Five (5).   

 Page 37 
Item VII.b.: Approval and Adoption of the highest 
four scoring title company submissions under the 
Houston Land Bank Title Company RFQ issued on  
September 16, 2022.                                                                    Page 38  
 

participation in the National Community Stabilization Trust ("NCST") 
Program. Page 43 
  



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 
AGENDA 

Thursday, February 9, 2023  Noon Central Time  

United Way of Greater Houston 

50 Waugh Drive, Houston, Texas 77007 

Due to health and safety concerns related to COVID-19, this meeting will offer 
participation by videoconference or in person. The meeting will be open to the public but 
restrictions regarding masks, allowable room capacity, and seating arrangements may be 
in place. 

The public meeting location will be at the United Way Greater Houston 50 Waugh Drive, 
Houston, Texas 77007. The Board Chair, as presiding officer of the Board, will be physically 
present; some Board members may also be physically present. Other Board members will 
be participating by videoconference in accordance with the provisions of Section 551.127 
of the Texas Government Code applicable to a governmental body that extends into three 
or more counties. To join by videoconference, please go to: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83294085722 Or join by phone by calling: 
1-346-248-7799 
1-669-900-6833 

Meeting ID: 832 9408 5722 

Please contact info@houstonlandbank.org or call us at 281-655-4600 with any questions. 

AGENDA 

I. Call to Order and Roll Call 

II. Public Speakers & Registered Attendees  

a. Lorita Morgan: Gold Quest Group (non-speaking).  

b. Miguel Sanchez: Gold Quest Group (non-speaking). 

c. Maria Rebollar: Gold Quest Group (non-speaking). 

d. Patrick Haggerty: Sean Powers Realty (non-speaking). 

e. Phil Triesch: Enso Inspections PLLC (non-speaking).  

f. James Southerland:  AD Permits (speaking) 
 

Speakers must be registered by 5 p.m. on Wednesday, February 8, 2022. To register, 
please use the online form at www.houstonlandbank.org/resources, e-mail 
info@houstonlandbank.org or call 281-655-4600. The Chair will call on speakers and 
allow three minutes per speaker. 

III. Consideration and Adoption of Meeting Minutes 



Page 2 of 2 
a. November 10, 2022 Board Meeting 

IV.  Greeting: Matt Zeis 

V. Committee Reports: 

a. Executive Committee: Matt Zeis, Chair 

b. Finance Committee: Laurie Vignaud, Chair 

c. Partnership and Program Development: Courtney Johnson-Rose, Chair 

d. Real Estate Acquisition and Disposition: Victor Mondragón, Chair 

e. Procurement and Oversight: Jesus DeAnda, Chair 

VI.  Report: Christa Stoneham, CEO/President 

VII. Board Action Items 

a. Consideration and Possible Action to Approve Nelrod Homes, LLC lot buy back request 
for lots purchased in the Settegast neighborhood during the Houston Land Bank Lot Sale 
Round Five (5).   

b. Consideration and Possible Action to Approve The highest four scoring title company 
submissions under the Houston Land Bank Title Company Services RFQ issued on 
September 16, 2022. 

c. Consideration and Possible Action to Approve The participation of the Houston Land Bank 
in the National Community Stabilization Trust ("NCST") Program that seeks to serve as
the bridge between financial institutions and local housing providers to stabilize 
neighborhoods.  

VIII. Executive Session 

NOTE: The Houston Land Bank Board may go into executive session, if necessary, pursuant 
to Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code, for one or more of the following reasons: (1) 
consultation with its legal counsel to seek or receive legal advice or consultation regarding 

pending or contemplated litigation; (2) discussion about the value or transfer of real property; 
(3) discussion about a prospective gift or donation; (4) consideration of specific personnel 
matters; (5) discussion about security personnel or devices; or (6) discussion of certain 
economic development matters. The Board may announce that it will go into executive session 
on any item listed on this agenda if the subject matter is permitted for a closed session by 
provisions of Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code. 

Discussion may occur in executive session as provided by State law, but all Board actions 
will be taken in public. 

IX. Board Member Comments 



X. Adjournment 



HOUSTON LAND BANK 
MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

HOUSTON, TEXAS 
 

November 10, 2022 

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors ("Board") of the Houston Land Bank ("HLB"), 
a Texas non-profit corporation created and organized by the City of Houston as a local government 
corporation pursuant to the Texas Transportation Code Annotated, Section 431.101, et seq., and 
the Texas Local Government Code Annotated, Section 394.001 et seq., was held at the Baker 
Ripley Building, 4450 Harrisburg Boulevard, 2nd Floor, Houston, Texas, on Thursday, 
November 10, 2022 at 12:00 p.m.  Written notice of the regular meeting, which included the date, 
hour, place and agenda for the regular meeting, was posted in accordance with the Texas Open 
Meetings Act. 

Board members in attendance were:  

Tonzaino Bailey Janae Ladet 
David Collins Matt Zeis 
Victor A. Mondragón Elaine Morales 
Marilyn Muguerza Laurie Vignaud 
Jesus DeAnda Dwantrina Russell 
  

Board directors absent were:  Courtney Johnson Rose and Antoinette Jackson.  Others in 
attendance included:  Christa Stoneham, Chief Executive Officer/President of the HLB; Jennifer 
Allison, Vice President of Operations and Programs for HLB; Mark Glanowski (Paralegal) of 
Winstead PC, outside legal counsel for the HLB; Graciela Saenz, outside legal counsel for the 
HLB; Ron Butler, Manager  Property Maintenance for HLB; Kellen Zale of the HLB Advisory 
Board; LaTosha Okoiron, In-house Legal Counsel and Compliance Director for the HLB; and 
Lynn Henson, Ex-Officio Board appointee. 

I. Call to Order and Roll Call 

Chairman Zeis called this regular meeting to order at 12:13 p.m.  A roll call of the Board 
members in attendance immediately followed. Chairman Zeis announced that a quorum of the 
Board is present.   

II. Public Speakers 

No public speaker registered to address the Board. 

III. Consideration and Adoption of Meeting Minutes 

a. October 13, 2022 Board Meeting 

Chairman Zeis noted that the minutes for the October 13, 2022 regular meeting of the 
Board of Directors were previously circulated for review and comment.  He asked if there were 

4889-3371-2702v.1 43602-1 1/4/2023 



2 

any comments for discussion to such minutes.  Hearing none, Chairman Zeis then requested a 
motion to approve and adopt such minutes as written. 

Director Collins made a motion to adopt the minutes of the October 13, 2022 Board 
meeting as written, which motion was then duly seconded by Director Vignaud and passed with 
the unanimous vote of the Board. 

IV. Chairman's Greeting:  Matt Zeis 

Chairman Zeis thanked the Directors for attending this last Board meeting for 2022, and 
the Houston Astros for winning the Major League Baseball World Series. 

V. Committee Reports: 

a. Executive Committee:  Matt Zeis, Chair 

Chairman Zeis then announced that the Executive Committee met last week to discuss the 

tract of the Yellow Cab property has not yet been received.  

b. Finance Committee:  Laurie Vignaud, Chair 

Director Vignaud stated that the Finance Committee met yesterday to discuss finding a 
replacement for Gonzalo Gonzalez.  She also had a lunch meeting with Keith Byrum of the City 
of Houston Housing Department to discuss the outstanding reimbursements from the City of 
Houston for the months of June and July as the City had questions with regard to the property 
management for this period. Director Vignaud then mentioned that there is no update with regard 
to major income. Lastly, she reported that there may be grant opportunities available with Citi 
Bank. The monthly financial report is included in the meeting packet distributed to the Board. 

c. Partnership and Program Development Committee:  Courtney Johnson Rose, 
Chair 

 
informed the Board that the Partnership and Program Development Committee met to discuss the 
Builder Forum to be held in the 3rd Ward as an opportunity to invite homebuilders into the HLB 
program. She also reported that tonight there will be a Community Design Workshop for the Acres 
Home Town Center Concept with regard to the mixed-use development along the W. Montgomery 
Road economic corridor. and the assignment of the contract to purchase the remaining tract at the 
former Yellow Cab site.   

d. Real Estate Acquisition and Disposition Committee:  Victor Mondragón, 
Chair 

Director Mondragón reported that the READ Committee met on October 28, 2022 to 
discuss the results of the Round 7 Lot Sales, the requests by certain homebuilders to increase the 



3 

sales price of the houses constructed, the assignment of the contract to purchase the middle tract 
at the former Yellow Cab site, and the upcoming forum for home builders. 

e. Procurement and Oversight Committee:  Jesus DeAnda, Chair 

1. Procurements Overview 

Director DeAnda reported that the Procurement and Oversight Committee met last week 
to discuss the procurement for title company services which closed last month.  He noted that five 
submissions were received, which will be reviewed by HLB staff and graded and then brought 
before the Board for final approval of the successful bid.  Director DeAnda then announced that 
the procurement for a fundraising consultant fell through and therefore this RFP will need to be 
re-opened. Lastly, Director DeAnda mentioned that the RFQ for homebuilders will close on 
January 9, 2023.  

VI. President's Report:  Christa Stoneham, CEO/President 

a. Progress Report 

Ms. Stoneham stated that there are 99 affordable houses in development with 20 houses 
completed and ready for buyers, and that the Round 7 Lot Sales closed at the end of August.  She 
mentioned that construction contracts with certain homebuilders in the Round 7 Lot Sales were 
amended to increase the sales price due to the new requirements instituted recently by the HLB. 
Ms. Stoneham reported that she attended a meeting with the City of Houston Housing Department 
regarding the market value analysis it prepared with City data which indicates that the sales price 
point for affordable houses in Houston is increasing. For example, the sales prices in Acres Home 
have doubled in the last 10 years. Recently, the HLB staff attended several sessions at the 

 national conference to receive input from other land banks.  

Ms. Stoneham reported that she attended several meetings with various public agencies to 
activate some of their vacant properties. In connection with the $30,000 grant from HAR to explore 
the activation of a tract of land on W. Montgomery Road in Acres Home there will be a design 
workshop to be held on November 15, 2022 to discuss proposals for the use of this land to reignite 
the commercial corridor. Lastly, she noted that the HLB staff will be working to fill full time 
vacant positions at the HLB.  

VII. Board Action Items 

a. Consideration and Possible Action to Approve Round Seven (7) Lot Sales as 
Recommended by the HLB Accept Real Estate Acquisition and Disposition 
Committee. 

Chairman Zeis announced that applications were received for 23 lots were approved for 
sale to four different home builders. He noted that 20 lots are located in Settegast and 2 in Trinity 
Gardens, and one in the 5th Ward. He noted that eight lots will be sold to SXG Builders, ten lots to 
Burghli Homes, four lots to MHL Builders, and one lot to Nelrod Homes.  Director Collins asked 
why the house to be constructed by Nelrod Homes at 1410 Worms is listed for a sales price of 
$279,000. He was informed that this house will have 4-bedrooms and 2-bathrooms, and a living 



4 

area of 1,790 square feet.  Including the garage, this house will have a total of 2,468 square feet. 
Director Vignaud then made a motion to approve the Round Seven Lot Sales, which motion was 
duly seconded by Director Ladet and passed with the unanimous vote of the Board.   

b. Consideration and Possible Action to Approve the Houston Land Bank to 
enter an affordable housing Consortium with Invictus DG Inc., Elysian X 
Incorporated, Community Works CDC and Faith Works with the mission of 
obtaining funding for affordable housing per the Proposed MOU. 

Ms. Stoneham announced that approval of this agenda item will authorize the HLB Board 
of Directors Chairman or the HLB Chief Executive Officer to execute the proposed Memorandum 
of Understanding Structure for Consortium Shop Funds Application which is necessary in order 
to move forward with the Consortium and submit a joint application for the U.S Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD)'s Self-Help Homeownership Opportunity Program 
(SHOP) Grant. She noted that the total grant is $12.5 Million which will be awarded to a maximum 
of 12 applicants. The awarded grants must have a regional impact which is defined as 2 or more 
states. Therefore, HLB will be working with Faith Works based in the Midwest (Gary, Indiana). 
The grants must be used for acquisition of land or infrastructure costs and cannot be used for 
vertical improvements.  

She noted that the HLB was invited by Invictus Development Group LLC (IDG) to become 
a part of a consortium of affordable housing organizations with the purpose of obtaining funding 
for projects that contribute to solutions of creating affordable homes. The other included 
organizations would be Invictus DG Inc., Elysian X Incorporated, Community Works CDC, Faith 
Works and the HLB.  In addition to the Memorandum of Understanding and project scope, Habitat 
for Humanity and the home buyer will be responsible for the vertical construction and sweat equity 
components of the project.  Also, Allison Hayes with Habitat for Humanity has agreed to write a 
letter of support if needed.   

Should the Board of Directors approve this item, HLB staff will continue its efforts in 
creating solutions for affordable housing pursuant to the proposed Memorandum of 
Understanding. 

Director Vignaud made a motion to approve entering into an affordable housing 
consortium with the mission of obtaining funding for affordable housing, which motion was duly 
seconded by Director Mondragón and passed with the unanimous vote of the Board. 

c. Consideration and Possible Action to Approve and Adopt the Houston Land 
Bank FY2022 Financial external audit. 

Chairman Zeis announced that the approval of this agenda item will authorize the HLB 
Board of Directors Chair or the Chief Executive Officer to approve and adopt the Fiscal Year 2022 
financial external audit as of the fiscal year-end of June 30, which was and submitted to the HLB 
on October 25, 2022. 

Pursuant to the HLB organizational documents, the annual Fiscal Year 2022 Financial 
Audit was conducted at the fiscal year end (June 30, 2022) by Doren Mayhew CPAs and Advisors 



5 

and the subsequent financial report was submitted to the HLB on October 25, 2022.   Below are 
some of the respective findings of the audit report: 

1. Professional standards were adhered to regarding the communication, 
scope, and timing of the audit. 

2. HLB did designate a staff member with the requisite skill, knowledge, and 
experience to oversee and review the financial statements and reports in 
connection with this audit. 

3. There was one significant risk identified: being management override of 
controls and improper revenue recognition. 

4. There were no changes to the Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Significant 
Accounting Practices. 

5. There were no significant unusual transactions identified during the audit. 

6. There were no significant difficulties in dealing with management related 
to the performance of the audit. 

7. There were no material misstatements identified that required corrective 
action. 

8. No disagreements arose because of the audit with Management and Doren 
Mayhew CPAs and Advisors. 

9. Management did not include a management discussion and analysis, but the 
financial statements are not affected by the lack of management discussion 
and analysis. 

10. There were no other significant matters, findings or issues. 

Director Vignaud made a motion to adopt the Fiscal Year 2022 Financial Audit, which 
motion was duly seconded by Director Ladet and passed with the unanimous vote of the Board.   

d. Consideration and Possible Action to Accept Real Estate Acquisitions and 
Development (READ) Committee Recommendations of Contract 
Amendments for Maximum Sales Price Increase Requests under the Houston 
Land Bank Builder Traditional Program. 

Chairman Zeis announced that approval of this item will authorize HLB staff to amend 
existing construction contracts to reflect the recommended sales prices for houses to be built by 
Nelrod Homes.  This application has been reviewed, analyzed, and recommended for approval by 
both the READ and Executive Committees. 

Due to to the continued increases in both land prices and construction costs in Houston, 
Nelrod Homes, a HLB approved builder, has requested sales price increases based on increased 



6 

construction cost, material and labor cost volatility for the houses located at 5731 Haight Street 
and 5801 Haight Street in the Settagast Community.  The lots were sold to Nelrod Homes on June 
7, 2021 for $6500.00 each, with an agreed maximum sales price of $179,990.  Nelrod Homes, 
initially submitted a price increase in the amount of $196,499 for a 1401 square foot house 
($140/square feet) which was denied as such pricing was out of alignment with the maximum sales 
prices for that neighborhood.  Nelrod Homes, then submitted a subsequent sales price increase 
request in the amount of $189,900 for a 1403 square foot house ($135.00 square feet) which was 
aligned with the maximum sales prices in that area.  This request and its supporting documentation 
were reviewed by HLB staff and assessed against both current construction costs per square foot 
and the recently approved pricing ranges and found to be conforming.  Additionally, the READ 
Committee considered this subsequent request and approved it to move it out of the READ 
Committee for a vote by the full Board. 

Director Collins made a motion to accept the recommendations of the READ Committee 
for the maximum sales prices increases requested by home builders under the Traditional Program, 
which motion was duly seconded by Director Vignaud and passed with the unanimous vote of the 
Board.   

VIII. Executive Session 

Nothing to report. 

IX. Board Member Comments 

Director Collins wished everyone a happy Thanksgiving. 

X. Adjournment 

Chairman Zeis asked if there were any additional matters to be considered by the Board.  
Hearing none, the regular Board meeting adjourned at 12:50 p.m. upon the motion of Director 
Mondragón to adjourn the meeting, which was duly seconded by Director DeAnda and passed 
with the unanimous vote of the Board. 

Minutes Prepared By: 
Mark Glanowski (Paralegal) of Winstead PC and 
Graciela Saenz of Law Offices of Graciela Saenz, PLLC 

Signed on the _____ day of __________, 2023. 

 
 
     
Secretary 



Houston Land Bank
Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2022

     1/2



Houston Land Bank
Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2022

     2/2



Houston Land Bank
Profit and Loss by Month

July - December, 2022

     1/2



Houston Land Bank
Profit and Loss by Month

July - December, 2022

     2/2















































REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 

Meeting Date: February 9, 2023 

Agenda Item: Consideration and Possible Action to Approve the Nelrod Homes , LLC 
Settegast Lot Buy Back Request.   
  

ACTION SUMMARY 

Approval of this agenda item will authorize HLB to approve the lot buy back request for 
Nelrod Homes, LLC submitted in January of 2023.  This action is necessary in order to 
facilitate the termination of the purchase contract between the Houston Land Bank and 
Nelrod Homes, LLC and the subsequent lot buy back.  

 

BACKGROUND/OVERVIEW (Background of the Agreement and Summary)  

Nelrod Homes, LLC purchased the below listed four (4) Settegast lots for $6500.00 each 
during the December 2021 Round five (5) Houston Land Bank Lot Sale : 

 

0 Fields: 0752470030015 

0 Fields: 0752470030016 

0 Fields: 0752470030017 

0 Fields: 0752470030018 

 

In January of 2023, Nelrod Homes, LLC contacted HLB and expressed their desire to sale 
back the above-mentioned lots.  It is Nelrod s position that they cannot sustain or 
effectively build the contracted single-family homes at the sales point price of 
$180,000.00   without taking a significant financial loss to their company.  They have 
requested that HLB buy-back the lots.  

           

Should the Board of Directors approve this item, HLB will terminate the purchase contract 
and buy-back the above mentioned lots at $6500 each.   
 

 



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Meeting Date: February 9, 2023 

Agenda Item: Consideration and Possible Action to Approve The highest four scoring 
title company submissions under the Houston Land Bank Title Company Services 
RFQ issued on September 16, 2022.  
  

ACTION SUMMARY 

Approval of this agenda item will authorize HLB to enter into a Title Company Service 
contract with the highest scoring title company submissions under the Houston Land Bank 
Title Company Service RFQ as issued on September 16, 2022. This action is necessary to 
facilitate the title work of the next round of lot sales.  

BACKGROUND/OVERVIEW (Background of the Agreement and Summary)  

The last title services contracts expired November 2022. The previous title services 
contract holders were Ashizawa, LLC, Commonwealth Title, Infinity Title and Post Oak Title.   
In anticipation of the expiration of those title services contracts ending, HLB issued a new 
RFQ September 16, 2022 that closed on October 17, 2022. As a result of the RFQ, five 
submissions where received.  A HLB procurement panel of three staff was created to 
review and evaluate the top four submissions. The evaluation criteria were based off the 
posted RFQ (see attached).     

After review and evaluation of the submissions, the following is a breakdown of the point 
received out of a possible three-hundred (300). The four highest scoring submissions are 
the companies that HLB is requesting board action to contract with for title services. 

 

1. Allegiance Title Company           267.50 
2. Williston Financial Group             263 
3. Valero Title Company                   254 
4. Ashizawa, LLC                                241                     
5. Law Office of Phillip E. Parker    241 

 

Due to the last submissions receiving the same exact number of points, the title service 
contract pool will consist of all five offers. Should the Board of Directors approve this item, 
HLB will enter service contracts with these title companies for the next two years.   











REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 

Meeting Date: February 9, 2023 

Agenda Item: Consideration and Possible Action to Approve The participation of the 
Houston Land Bank in the National Community Stabilization Trust ("NCST") 
Program that seeks to serve as the bridge between financial institutions and 
local housing providers to stabilize neighborhoods.  
  

ACTION SUMMARY 

 the Houston Land Bank to 
apply and participate in NCST's REO acquisition programs. These programs facilitate the 
transfer of properties between participating financial institutions ("REO Sellers") and 
eligible local housing providers.  This action is necessary to permit HLB to submit 
application for the program and enable the Chief Executive Officer to execute a Memo of 
Understanding & Resolution after acceptance into the program.   

 

BACKGROUND/OVERVIEW (Background of the Agreement and Summary)  

The National Community Stabilization Trust (NCST) coordinates the transfer of abandoned 
and foreclosed property from various participating financial institutions nationwide to local 
housing providers and assist in increasing access to flexible financing. Examples of 
participating providers are CUSP/Wells Fargo, Community Restoration Corporation and Mr. 
Cooper etc.  

Qualified properties are available to purchase by housing providers at discounted rates 
based on the Net Present Value (NPV) model. These properties are accessible to the 
housing providers in the program prior to the properties being listen in the open market.  

Other initiatives of the programs include neighborhood stabilization initiatives, second look 
properties that allow for properties on the market more than 90 days to be purchased at 
reduced prices and Freddie Mac Early Access/HUD property initiatives.  

Should the Board of Directors approve this item, HLB will submit application to the NCST 
program and subsequently enter negotiations for the Chief Executive Officer to execute a 
memo of understanding and corresponding resolution.  
 


